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	RFP No. 101-26 RMS and CAD Software Replacement with Professional Services for Implementation
Appendix No. 2 - Proposal Questions
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[bookmark: _Toc133220015][bookmark: _Toc215054076]GENERAL RFP QUESTIONS

NOTE TO PROPOSING VENDORS:  To standardize the format of all proposals for evaluation, Proposers are required to respond to all questions, to answer questions in the order given, and to list the item number and restate the question prior to giving their answer.  Failure to comply with this requirement may result in your proposal being declared non-responsive.  

A. [bookmark: _Toc34827204][bookmark: _Toc133220016][bookmark: _Toc215054077]GENERAL VENDOR QUESTIONS:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054078]General Vendor Summary 

Please provide a brief description of the following:

a) Full legal company name;

b) Your headquarters address;

c) Primary company contact including name, phone number, and email address;

d) Year your firm was established;

e) A brief listing of your Vendor core competencies; and

f) A current copy of your company’s W-9 (current IRS version is October 2018). 

B. [bookmark: _Toc133220017][bookmark: _Toc215054079]EXPERIENCE AND REFERENCES:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054080]References 

Please provide five (5) current client references that you have sold and implemented the same or like solutions to in the past ten (10) years.  Of these references, please list as many as available that are other governmental municipalities as possible.  

a) Include in your reference information:  
i) Name of the municipality or firm;
ii) Client’s headquarters address;
iii) Current reference contact;
(1) Reference’s title;
(2) Reference’s phone number;
(3) Reference’s email address;
iv) Date of signed contract;
v) Ending date of the contract (or “Current” if still ongoing);
vi) Name, description, and version number of the software and service implemented; 
vii) Software version number that the reference is currently on; and
viii) Estimated contractual value.
b) Please provide: 
i) The number of Private sector clients;
ii) The number of Public sector clients;
iii) A list of all Colorado clients (Public and Private sectors); and
(1) If you have no Colorado clients, answer question A.2.b.iii as “None” or “Zero”.
[bookmark: _Toc184803077]
C. [bookmark: _Toc215054081]VENDOR DECLARATION STATEMENTS:

1) [bookmark: _Toc184803078][bookmark: _Toc215054082]Which Group Is Your Firm Proposing On:

Proposing firms are required to declare which group they are proposing for and providing answers to the proposal questions.  If your firm is capable of being able to provide service on both groups, and your firm is proposing being able to provide all requirements for both systems, then you would select “Both groups”. 

	Proposing Vendors must check at least one of the following groups.

	☐	Group 1 – A new RMS software system

	☐	Group 2 – A new CAD software system

	☐	Both Group 1 and Group 2 (RMS and CAD systems)



If your firm has selected “Both Group 1 and Group 2”, your answers to the following proposal questions must address all aspects of how your firm can provide service and has experience for both groups.

2) [bookmark: _Toc184803079][bookmark: _Toc215054083]Proposing Vendor’s Structure:

As the proposing Vendor, is your firm the sole provider of the software, implementation services, and all related work, including support and maintenance, customer service and billing, or will your firm be using a Manufacturer/SI relationship?  Please check the appropriate box.

	☐	Proposing as the Software Manufacturer who will also perform all aspects of the implementation process.

	☐	Proposing as the Software Manufacturer who will not perform the implementation but has proposed a System Integrator (“SI”) who will perform the implementation of our proposed software solution.

	☐	Proposing as the System Integrator (“SI”) who will perform aspects of the implementation process but have proposed a software from a Software Manufacturer that will be provided directly by the Software Manufacturer.




Please note that depending on which box your firm has checked, Thornton may require additional information from you as the proposing firm.

If your firm has checked the box as the:

· Software Manufacturer with implementation services:
· Please answer all questions as required for your firm

· Software Manufacturer with a SI performing the implementation services:
· Please answer all questions as required for your firm; and
· All questions as necessary for who the SI is, including a direct contact name/email address, how the SI will be involved in the project’s process, etc.

· SI with proposing a Software Manufacturer’s software solution:
· Please answer all questions as required by your firm; and
· All questions as necessary for who the Software Manufacturer is, including a direct contact name/email address, how the Software Manufacturer will be involved in the project’s process, etc.

It shall be your responsibility as the proposing Vendor to ensure that any other party (SI or Software Manufacturer) has seen all of Thornton’s solicitation documents and that their software/implementation services are capable of performing in the manner in which your firm has stated it can meet or exceed Thornton’s requirements.  
[bookmark: _Toc125379918]
[bookmark: _Toc215054084]RFP QUESTIONS – PROPOSED SOFTWARE AND VENDOR AGREEMENTS

A. [bookmark: _Toc215054085]PROPOSED SOFTWARE:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054086]Proposed Software

Please provide the following information:

a) What is the name of the software your firm has proposed, and if your firm is a SI, what company makes and controls the software?

b) What version number of the software has your firm proposed and is this the most current version of your proposed software?

c) Please list all the modules that are included in your proposed solution, and if they are a core function of your solution, or a module that is optional and may be added on later by a client when additional funding has been appropriated.

d) Is your proposed software and solution delivery a full SaaS or hybrid model?

e) Who is your firm proposing to host the software?  Thornton or the Software Manufacturer?

f) What are the modules associated with the software your firm has proposed that are required to operate your solution and fulfill Thornton’s requirements and scope of work needs?
i) Please note that Thornton’s final question to Vendors consists of a “value-add” question that will allow potential Vendors to elaborate on any other modules that may be of future interest to Thornton, but are not part of this RFP’s scope of work (e.g., Utility billing, recruirtment and applicant tracking, etc.).

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054087]Mobile Application 

Thornton may be interested in a mobile application for various features.  Please refer back to Appendix No. 1 – RTM for additional requirements details.

If your firm’s proposed solution has mobile solution, please provide answers to the following questions.  If your firm does not have a mobile solution, please enter “Not Available” for each answer below:

a) Is your proposed software solution available through a mobile application that is available for download for iOS and/or Android devices?
i) If your answer is “no”, please skip to question # II.A.3.

b) If your proposed solution is available through a mobile application, is there a reduction in functionality through the mobile application when compared to operating on a desktop or laptop?
i) If your solution does have a reduced functionality in its mobile application version, what are clients not able to do in the mobile application that they would otherwise be able to do in the desktop and laptop version?

B. [bookmark: _Toc215054088]GENERAL SOFTWARE REQUIREMENTS:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054089]Client Hardware and Browser Requirements

a) Please provide your firm’s recommendations on what hardware a client should have as a minimum threshold to successfully operate your solution for:
i) Desktop and laptop devices; and
ii) Tablets and mobile devices.

b) Thornton’s IT team is generally agnostic for browser platforms, with most Thornton users operating on the larger browsers platforms (e.g., Chrome, Firefox, Edge, Safari).  Please provide your firm's recommendations on what browser platforms operate best for your solution, and what versions and requirements your clients should have for browsers to successfully operate your solution.


2) [bookmark: _Toc215054090]Scalability

a) Please provide a description of your solution’s scalability for clients as they continue to grow in their needs, in their license headcounts, and how your solution may handle those increased loads and scale of growth.

3) [bookmark: _Toc215054091]Interfaces, Inegration, and API’s 

a) Please provide a general description of your capabilities when it comes to building and implementing various 3rd party integration points and application programing interface (API’s).
i) How does your firm design for seamless integration with 3rd party services or APIs?

b) Will the Software Manufacturer maintain 3rd party integrations as Vendor integration needs evolve over time?  If so, are there any additonal costs for integration changes that may occur over time?

c) Has your proposed pricing included all the known interfaces/integration points that Thornton has currentlty listed?

d) If your firm is awarded from this proposal and additional interfaces/integration points are discovered as requirements during the final discovery and planning sessions, Thornton’s anticipation would be that a change order is required, which would include a scope of work, milestones and deliverables for the work, and a fixed fee price.  Is that how your firm would anticipate the process proceeding if this occurred?  If not, how does your firm anticipate the process would work?

4) [bookmark: _Toc215054092]Records Retention

a) What types of historical data does your system maintain?

b) What is the length of time that data can be entered and stored by a client within your solution?  Are there any additional fees for keeping data past a certain date within your solution, and if so, what might that fee be?

c) Is your solution able to provide an audit trail of any user’s specific actions, including but not limited to, creation of records, data entry, deletion of data or documents, and/or migration of records/documents?  If so, what does this look like and how is this done within your software?

d) Is your solution able to allow a System Administrator or “Power User” to run a report on a specific item(s) to show what an audit trail may be, including users within that audit trail, when actions where performed (date/time) and why (if notes are available) an action was performed by the users?

e) If a file or data has been inadvertently deleted from the solution, is there an ability within your solution for a System Administrator to recover the data?  If so, how is that done?

C. [bookmark: _Toc215054093]USER LOGIN, ROLES, AND LICENSING MODEL:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054094]ADFS, SSO, and MFA  

a) Please provide information on if your firm’s solution is able to support Active Directory Federation Services (“ADFS”), and if so, how that is enabled and supported by your firm.

b) Please provide information on if your firm’s solution is able to support Single Sign-On (“SSO”), and if so, how that is enabled and supported by your firm.

c) Thornton currently utilizes mutli-factor authentication (“MFA”) through the use of Cisco’s Duo product.  Please provide on if your firm’s solution is able to support MFA, and if so, how that is enabled and supported by your firm.

d) If your firm is capable of providing either or all options of ADFS, SSO, and MFA, have you ensured that those options are already included in your proposed price?
i) If your firm cannot provide any of these options, please enter “Not Available” and move to the next question. 

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054095]User Roles and Permissions

a) Please provide details on your solution’s ability to have multiple user roles available for a client to use, including what roles are availble, including but not limited to:  Adminstrators (or Super Admins), general users, general users with advanced permissions (e.g., Purchasing Manager vs. requisition enterer), view only access, and IT permissions.

b) Does your firm’s solution allow for the recycling of user email addresses?  What is your solution’s protocol for identifying users that may have the same name (e.g., John Smith 1, John Smith 2)?

c) Please provide details on your solution’s ability to allow for a user to have multiple screens/tabs/windows open with each having different data from your solution on each screen.

d) Please confirm that your solution is capable of allowing multiple users across the organization of viewing and entering data at the same time, and when a user may be “locked out” of a page while another user is entering in data.  How does your solution know which user is allowed to enter in data so that the two (2) users are not duplicating or over-writing one another’s work at the same time?



3) [bookmark: _Toc215054096]Licensing Model

Please keep all proposal pricing within the provided Appendix No. 3 – Pricing Form, and do not include any actual proposal pricing within your answers to these questions.

a) What is your firm’s recommended licensing model for the proposed software for Thornton’s needs?  Monthly/yearly subscription, enterprise, seat, etc.?

b) How does your firm handle an increase to the client’s regular employee headcount during the middle of the year?  
i) Is there a price breakdown per additional employee?
ii) Is there an annual true-up for licensing?
iii) If licenses are required during a mid-cycle period, will your firm be able to co-term those new licenses with the licensing renewal term for the main set of licenses?  If not, why not?

c) Specifically during the implementation phase of your proposed solution:
i) Does your firm waive software licensing fees until a “Go-Live” milestone has been reached, as the solution is not a fully usable product for your client?  If no:
(1) Are these fees then prorated or is your client expected to pay the full licensing cost?
(2) When does your firm expect software licensing fees to begin?

D. [bookmark: _Toc215054097]ACCESSIBILITY:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054098]CADA and Compliance

Thornton is aware of an everchanging landscape on technology and legal requirements/compliance.  Based upon Thornton’s notification to the Vendors in main RFP Section B listed as “Technology Accessibility Compliance”, and as a Vendor, your own research into the newer CADA laws that have been enacted, and the pending legislation on even stricter federal requirements on technology, please provide answers to the following questions.

a) Does your proposed software solution meet or exceed the current WCAG compliance requirements set forth by the State of Colorado for all public entities?
i) If your firm has answered “no” to this question, is your firm willing to commit to meeting this requirement?  If so, by what date on your firm’s roadmap does it anticipate meeting/exceeding this requirement? 

E. [bookmark: _Toc215054099]PROPOSED SOFTWARE AGREEMENTS:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054100]Vendor Agreements or Additional Terms and Conditions

Thornton understands that for technology/software Vendors, there are typically additional terms and conditions that may need to be considered beyond what is stated in Thornton’s sample Technology MSA that has been provided as part of this solicitation.  

a) Does your proposed solution require any of the following to have signatures?
i) End User License Agreement (EULA);
ii) Master Subscription/Service Agreement (MSA);
iii) Service Level Agreement (SLA);
iv) Hosting and/or SaaS agreement;
v) Order Form terms and conditions;
vi) Online Vendor terms and conditions or click-through agreements, including but not limited to:
(1) Privacy policies
(2) Artificial Intelligence Addendum
(3) Data Privacy Addendum
(4) Additional support and warranty language
vii) Any other Vendor documents that include terms and conditions 

If you have answered “Yes” to any of these, then you must include your proposed agreement(s) in your final proposal submission, uploaded as a separate file and clearly labeled.  Thornton typically will utilize Thornton’s sample Technology MSA as the central agreement and then incorporate Vendor terms and conditions documents into the Thornton document as exhibits (e.g., Exhibit A-1 Vendor EULA, Exhibit A-2 Vendor SLA, Exhibit A-3 Vendor Sample Change Order Form, etc.).

[bookmark: _Toc215054101]RFP QUESTIONS – GENERAL ENGAGEMENT METHODOLOGY 

A. [bookmark: _Toc215054102]PROPOSED ENGAGEMENT:
[bookmark: _Toc34827210]
1) [bookmark: _Toc215054103]General Engagement Methodology 

Thornton’s expectation is that the awarded Vendor will use their expertise to provide proactive leadership, guidance, and direction to the Thornton, CO team throughout each phase of the project life cycle while working collaboratively to plan and implement the solution.

a) Describe your general engagement methodology and how this will pertain to your solution proposed for Thornton’s needs.
i) Note: Thornton has asked specific questions later in this document pertaining to certain items of engagement, implementation, support, and Vendor methodologies.  

b) What is your firm’s experience with developing and assisting a client with an organizational change management strategy, as Users of a current software platform have to learn and train on your new software platform?

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054104]Change in Scope

a) Provide a description of your process to determine if a request from Thornton is mutually deemed as being out of scope from a resulting contractual agreement.

b) What types of changes may occur during a project that your firm does not feel worthwhile of raising to the level of requiring a change order?  E.g., rescheduling a meeting with the client within one (1) business day of the original meeting date, etc.

c) When it is found that a change order will be required, does your firm work with the client to develop a set of additional milestones and deliverables for that change order’s scope of work and pricing/billing so that both Parties can be held accountable and to reduce any mistakes/misunderstandings between both Parties?

d) Please include a copy of your firm’s Project Change Form, if your firm has a copy to provide.  If your firm does not have such a form, Thornton does have a template it will use.

3) [bookmark: _Toc215054105]Project Success and Acceptance Criteria

a) Please describe how your firm views a project as having ended in success for a client.

b) Please provide a description of your firm’s implementation success and acceptance criteria and include a description of the approach used to close out an implementation process after the stabilization period has ended.

c) Please include a copy of your firm’s Project Acceptance Form that is used for milestones and deliverables that are completed during the project and signed off on by your client, if your firm has a copy to provide.  If your firm does not have such a form, Thornton does have a template it will use.

[bookmark: _Toc215054106]RFP QUESTIONS – IMPLEMENTATION TEAM AND TIMELINE 

A. [bookmark: _Toc125379919][bookmark: _Toc215054107]PROPOSED VENDOR ENGAGEMENT TEAM:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054108]Vendor Engagement Team

For answering the following questions, unless otherwise asked specifically, Thornton has made the assumption that your firm has not assigned specific personnel yet to this project.  If your firm does have specific personnel already named for this project if you are selected for award, your firm may provide that as additional information, including one (1) page resumes of each individual.

a) Does your proposal include a dedicated implementation team as part of this project?  
i) If yes, does this team have experience with more than one government client for implementation of the software your firm has proposed?



b) Thornton expects the Vendor to have a dedicated account representative to consult with during the life of the eventual agreement.  Does your firm intend on assigning an account representative to Thornton? 
i) What will be the account representative’s minimum level of experience overall and specifically with governmental clients?
ii) Where would this account representative be based out of (city, state)?
iii) If you have a specific person identified, who is the account representative?

c) Please state each title and/or role (if a person has been identified, name that individual as well) from your organization that will be involved in this project, including providing the software, implementation, and support and maintenance phases.

d) Please state each title and/or role’s (if a person has been identified, name that individual as well)  responsibilities as part of this project, including providing the software, implementation, and support and maintenance phases.

e) Thornton is not seeking to be a “proving ground” for individuals that do not have previous experience on projects of this nature and size.  
i) What is the minimum level of experience for each role that will be assigned to the project from your firm, should your firm be selected for award?

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054109]Vendor Recommendations for the Thornton Team

a) What Thornton employee/roles does your firm recommend from Thornton’s end participate during the implementation phase of the project?

b) What are your expectations for the recommended Thornton roles during the project’s implementation?  This may include, but is not limited to:
i) Average weekly time commitment; 
ii) Work to be performed by Thornton staff members; 
iii) Etc.

B. [bookmark: _Toc215054110]PROPOSED MILESTONES, DELIVERABLES, AND VENDOR ENGAGEMENT HOURS:
[bookmark: _Toc34827211]
1) [bookmark: _Toc215054111]Milestones 

Thornton’s expectation is that the awarded Vendor will be paid as a milestone/deliverable system.  Thornton has provided a guideline below for what Thornton thinks the deliverables should be (#s i - xv).  

a) During the implemenintation of your firm’s solution, does your firm provide software licensing to your clients as part of your proposed solution?  Is this at no additoinal cost because your solution has not been configured to your client’s needs, thus it is not practically usable for your client?

b) Please either confirm that these deliverables listed below are acceptable to your firm or provide a set of proposed deliverables.  These guidelines are also listed within the Appendix No. 3 – Pricing Form, so please make sure that your proposal pricing aligns with your answers here to your firm’s proposed deliverables.
i) Contract signing;
ii) Final planning and discovery;
iii) Provision of a sandbox/testing environment;
iv) Configurations;
v) Interfaces and integrations with Thornton and 3rd party software;
vi) Integration testing, business process testing, and unit testing;
vii) Report building and testing;
viii) User Training;
ix) User Acceptance Testing (“UAT”);
x) Conditional acceptance by Thornton;
xi) “Go-Live” with the Vendor’s solution and separate live/production environment;
xii) Stabilization period and additional UAT; 
xiii) Final Acceptance; and
xiv) Project Sign-Off and software moves into support and maintenance phase.

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054112]Deliverables

a) When submitting a deliverable or milestone acceptance request to a client, what is your requested or recommended number of non-calendar days that you would expect for a client to review and provide a determination on whether they accept or reject the acceptance request?

b) With respect to your answers to question #IV.B.1 from above, please provide a set of proposed deliverables for each milestone that your firm has either agreed to or proposed, including within each deliverable, what is the Vendor’s responsibility, and what may be Thornton’s responsibility.  
i) Proposing Vendors are to note that a final set of detailed milestones and deliverables are likely to be negotiated between Thornton and the intent to award Vendor prior to a contract being signed.
ii) Below is an example of what Thornton is seeking from the proposing Vendor:



	Milestone # 2 – Final Planning and Discovery
Deliverables and responsibilities are as follows:

	Vendor Responsibilities
	Thornton Responsibilities

	· Kick-off Meeting
·  Facilitate a virtual Kick-Off call with Thornton’s project team.
· Project Brief
· Compile findings from final discovery and planning sessions with Thornton.
· Draft a project brief that is made into a clear and easy-to-read project brief, which includes necessary technical, design, and content details.
· Send the draft to Thornton for review and sign-off.
	· Ensure that all appropriate personnel and project leadership team members are available for the scheduled meeting.
· Review the drafted Project Brief within seven (7) business days of receipt and provide approval or require edits prior to final approval.



C. [bookmark: _Toc215054113]PROPOSED PROJECT SCHEDULE: 

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054114]Gantt Chart 

a) Please provide a proposed project schedule via a Gantt chart or other type of chart, in terms of calendar days based upon RFP Scope of Work and the Vendor stated engagement methodology.  
i) Use “Day 1” as the date of a fully executed contract being signed by both parties, with no prior work being completed prior to a signed contract being put into place.
ii) Ensure that you list the number of days expected for each portion of the project schedule. 
iii) Ensure that you include all proposed milestones and deliverable required to complete the implementation of the Vendor’s proposed solution. 

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054115]Engagement Team Hours

a) Based on your firm’s answers about what roles will be provided by your firm and what roles your firm recommends that Thornton have present during the project, please list:
i) The number of hours per proposed Vendor role per milestone; and
ii) The number of hours per recommended Thornton roles per milestone.



[bookmark: _Toc215054116]RFP QUESTIONS – IMPLEMENTATION METHODOLOGY

A. [bookmark: _Toc215054117]IMPLEMENTATION PLAN:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054118]General Approach

a) Is your proposed implementation model strictly on-site, remote/virtual, or a hybrid of both? Please elaborate.

b) Is your proposed implementation team on-shore, off-shore, or a hybrid of both? Please elaborate.

c) What type of approach does your organization typically take during an implementation of software, which you are also proposing as part of this project?  Is it a waterfall or agile method that you use, or some other option? Please elaborate.

d) Does your proposed implementation for Thornton’s needs follow more of a consulting, homework, hybrid of both, or other type of model and approach?  Why did your firm choose this type of approach?
i) Consulting approach – Significant Vendor involvement, typically 1:1 match on the project team, project management focused with Vendor, etc.
ii) Homework approach – Limited Vendor involvement, project management focused on client side, limited consultant personnel, etc.

e) How does your firm create a successful implementation approach with a government client so as to minimize surprise change orders and cost overruns on the project?

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054119]Tenants

a) Thornton’s anticipation is that the awarded Vendor will provide a minimum of two (2) tenants (environments) as part of the proposed solution and cost, which would include a test/sandbox tenant and a production tenant, with each tenant existing for the life of the contract and software usage with Thornton.  Please answer the following:
i) How does your firm define each tenant that would be provided to Thornton and what are those tenants called in your firm’s vernacular? 
ii) Which tenants will be included in your firm’s proposed solution and cost during the implementation phase?
iii) Which tenants will be included in your firm's proposed solution and cost once the implementation phase is complete and the project has moved into a support and maintenance	phase?  
iv) Can changes in the test/sandbox tenant be migrated into the production tenant, or would the exact changes made in the test/sandbox tenant need to be manually recreated in the production tenant?
(1) If the changes can be migrated over without manual recreation, please confirm that this is a proven process where Thornton can expect the migration will be accurate and complete with limited concerns for migration errors, or what the likelihood of errors may be.

3) [bookmark: _Toc215054120]Testing Approach

a) Of the following types of testing listed  below, which types does your firm intend on: 
i) Performing during the implementation process;
ii) What milestones are these tests performed in;
iii) How many iterations of each test are performed;
iv) When testing, are the tests reviewed across all modules/entire platform to ensure that it did not impact other modules.
v) Testing types include:
(1) Business process testing;
(2) Unit testing;
(3) Regression testing;
(4) Integration testing;
(5) UAT;
(6) Other

4) [bookmark: _Toc215054121]Testing Scripts for UAT

a) Does your firm have experience with developing testing scripts for your clients when it comes time to enact User Acceptance Testing?  
i) If you have answered “no”, does your firm commit to Thornton having the authority to create our own test scripts, which will be mutually agreed upon by the Vendor and Thornton, that your firm will be required and responsible for ensuring your proposed solution can successfully pass said Thornton developed test scripts prior to Thornton providing acceptance for a milestone and deliverable?

b) When does your firm recommend creating the testing scripts for your client and how are they memorialized within the project so there is clarity on roles between both Parties?  Is it prior to contract signature, or during the final planning and discovery phase?

c) What is your firm’s processing for developing testing scripts and reviewing them for approval with your client to ensure that they are acceptable to the client and cover the client’s needs?

d) When you are developing testing scripts, does your firm create scenarios for the client to test, including more than one (1) business function?



B. [bookmark: _Toc215054122]TRAINING:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054123]Training Plan

a) Does your firm have experience with creating a training plan for a client that will serve as the basis for the client’s initial training and user experience?  What is included in such a plan by your firm?
i) If you have answered “no”, please skip to question # 2.

b) When does your firm recommend to create the training plan for your client and how is it memorialized within the project so there is not a misunderstanding between both Parties later on?  Is it prior to contract signature, or during the final planning and discovery phase?

c) What additional documentation, including electronic copies in a format that is usable to Thornton (e.g., Microsoft Word or Adobe PDF) that will become the property of Thornton, will your firm provide as part of the training process and plan for Thornton?
i) Thornton does not want a strictly “train-the-trainer” approach so as to avoid a degredation of instutional knowledge as employees retire/separate from the organization.

d) Does your firm provide a set of “quick guides”, videos, and/or online learning library pages of frequently asked questions (“FAQs”) that users may access during and post the implementation process that are specific to governmental needs and Thornton’s solution? 
i) If so, is the online learning library available to all users, or only a certain number of users?

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054124]Pre “Go-Live”

a) Please provide an overview of your firm’s recommended training process for a client of Thornton’s size and variety of users.  

b) Does your firm provide specialized training based on: 
i) The type of user;
(1) E.g., Administrator training vs. general user training vs. IT training
ii) Specific departments
(1) E.g., Purchasing vs. Finance vs. Budget vs. HR

c) What is the amount of training, in a number of hours, that your firm has proposed for each:
i) Type of user;
ii) Specific departments

d) Does your pre “Go-Live” training plan include training sessions for multiple (10+) users? 

e) When providing training sesssions, does your firm record those trainings and provide them to your client?  If not, would your firm allow Thornton to record those trainings for future internal only use?

3) [bookmark: _Toc215054125]Post “Go-Live”

a) Please detail your firm’s proposed post “Go-live” training approach, including any refresher trainings, ongoing quarterly/annual refresher trainings, virtual training opportunities, etc.  Are these trainings included in your standard pricing that has been proposed?

b) What is your firm’s proposed and included level of involvement with post “Go-live” training and assistance for any Thornton designated trainers?

c) Does your proposed solution include an online learning library for users to access on their own time to learn at their own pace if they need refresher or additional training?

4) [bookmark: _Toc215054126]New Features

a) How are new features shared by your firm to clients when they become available through your updates and releases?

b) Is training provided by your firm for new featuers?  If so, is that training through an online learning library that users may access free of charge?

[bookmark: _Toc215054127]RFP QUESTIONS – SYSTEM SUPPORT

A. [bookmark: _Toc215054128]CUSTOMER AND SYSTEM SUPPORT:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054129]Uptime and General Security 

a) What is your solution’s proposed uptime?  Thornton’s preference for either system is 99.99% uptime.
i) If proposing both a RMS and a CAD solution, you must state what each system’s uptime is. 

b) How does your firm measure uptime?  Is it on a monthly or quarterly basis?  Is it on a 24/7/365 time?  Please explain and show your calculations.

c) How often in the past year has your solution or customer production tenant been unavailable?  

d) Assuming your firm has proposed and submitted an SLA, does your firm provide service credits as part of your SLA?
i) If yes, what are those credits?

e) Does your firm have a data center(s) within the continental United States for hosting the proposed solution, if hosting is included within your proposal?  If so, where are your data center(s) located at?

f) Does your firm have a security operations center or a managed security operations center?
g) Is your firm’s solution compliant with industry standard requirements regarding Criminal Justice Information System (“CJIS”) compliance?  
i) If “yes”:
(1) How does your firm ensure that these standards are maintained by your staff regarding this proposed solution?
(2) If selected for an award, would your firm be willing to provide Thornton with copies of these recent reports?

h) Has your firm performed recent cybersecurity testing and are you within compliance for a Security Operations Center (“SOC”) II report?
i) If selected for an award, would your firm be willing to provide Thornton with copies of these recent reports?

i) Does your firm have any of the following plans, and if so, would your firm be willing to share those with Thornton, if selected for an award: 
i) Disaster Recovery Plan (“DRP”);
ii) Business Continuity Plan (“BCP”); and
iii) Incident response plan

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054130]Versioning

a) How often are new versions updated or released to your clients every year and how are your clients notified of these impending updates/releases?

b) Describe your methodology for versioning your release and required updates.

c) Please outline your deployment strategy for updates and releases, when a client is required to adopt the updates and releases from their test environment to the production environment, and how your firm handles versioning, rollbacks, and monitoring?

d) Describe your patch management process, including how your firm reduces downtime for users.

3) [bookmark: _Toc215054131]Customer and System Support

a) Has your firm ensured that your firm has included proposed pricing for future years’ worth of support and maintenance, post “Go-Live” within the pricing form that Thornton has provided?  Yes or no.

b) Is your software support team on-shore within the continental United States?

c) What is your support service process for your proposed solution?
i) What are the methods to reach your support team?
ii) What are the hours of availability for your support team?
iii) Are there any “blackout” dates/times for your support team where they are unavailable?

d) Support encompasses the people, process, and technology necessary so that there are adequate resources and processes in place for ongoing support (e.g., help desk, etc.).  Ensure that you include people, processes, and resources available when answering this question.
i) Please detail your pre “Go Live” support process
ii) Please detail your post “Go Live” support process
iii) Include your response levels and times for urgent requests (e.g., system is unresponsive) and non-urgent requests (general assistance, custom report creations)
iv) What are your proposed resolution times for urgent and non-urgent requests that come in from Thornton?
v) What is the required method of contact for support?
vi) What is the customer’s responsibility during a system error notification?

[bookmark: _Toc215054132]RFP QUESTIONS – OTHER DETAILS, VALUE-ADD, CLOSING STATEMENT

A. [bookmark: _Toc215054133]OTHER DETAILS, VALUE ADDS, AND CLOSING STATEMENT:

1) [bookmark: _Toc215054134]Other Details

a) Please describe in detail any areas that Thornton has not included in this RFP’s Scope of Work (best practices, missed requirements, etc.) that your team considers to be beneficial, important, relevant, or crucial to the successful implementation of your proposed solution.

2) [bookmark: _Toc215054135]Value Added Vendor Offered Products and Services

a) Please list any additional software solutions that are not part of this RFP’s scope of work that are offered by your firm that Thornton may find of note or useful for future consideration, and how that software may be incorporated/integrated into the software solution in which you have proposed to this RFP.

b) Please list any additional services that aren’t previously mentioned within your proposal that are offered by your firm that have not otherwise been addressed by your firm in response to this RFP.  

3) [bookmark: _Toc215054136]Closing Statement

a) Please provide a brief narrative (one [1] page or less) of how you believe your company’s proposed solution will best serve Thornton’s needs both now, and in the future of the contractual agreement.
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